November, 2020 02:15:33 PM Clerk, U.S. District Court, ILCD

# UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Central District of Illi	nois
--------------------------	------

United States of America		America	)				
V.			)	G	00.141	0.470	
			)	Case No.	20-MJ	-6476	
			)				
			)				
	Jeffrey Allen B	Bosaw	)				
	Defendant(s	<i>s</i> )	,				
		CRIMINA	L CC	<b>MPLAIN</b>	T		
I, the co	omplainant in th	is case, state that the follo	wing	is true to the b	est of n	ny knowledge and belief.	
On or about the	date(s) of	on or about 11/14/2020	)	in the coun	ty of _	Rock Island	in the
Central	District of _	Illinois ,	the de	efendant(s) vio	olated:		
Code Section				Offense	Descrip	otion	
18 U.S.C. 2422	(b)	Internet, did knowing who had not attaine	gly atto d the a ould c	empt to persuage of 18 year	ade, ind s, to en	mobile phone, connected duce, entice, and coerce a gage in sexual activity un- ct in violation of 18 United	n individual der such
This cri	minal complain	t is based on these facts:					
See attached A	ffidavit						
,						<i>(</i>	
<b>♂</b> Continued on the attached sheet.					s/ł	Kurt Bendoraitis	
					(	Complainant's signature	
						SA Kurt Bendoraitis	
						Printed name and title	
Sworn to me ov	er the telephone	e and signed by me pursua	int to ]			an Hawley	1.
Date: 1	1/16/2020	_		fr	N	Judge's signature	- /
City and state:		Peoria, Illinois		Jona	ıthan E.	Hawley, U.S. Magistrate	Judge
						Printed name and title	

# IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

UNITED STATES OF AME	ERICA,	)			
F	Plaintiff,	)			
vs.		)	CASE NUMBER	20-MJ-6476	
JEFFREY ALAN BOSAW,		) ) )	FILED UNDER SEAL		
	Defendant.	) )			

# **CRIMINAL COMPLAINT**

I, Kurt Bendoraitis, the undersigned complainant, being duly sworn, state the following is true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief:

#### Count 1

# (Attempted Enticement of a Minor)

On or about November 14, 2020, the defendant,

# JEFFREY ALAN BOSAW,

in Rock Island County, Illinois, within the Central District of Illinois, and elsewhere, using facilities of interstate commerce, that is a mobile phone, connected to the Internet, did knowingly attempt to persuade, induce, entice, and coerce an individual who had not attained the age of 18 years, to engage in sexual activity under such circumstances as would constitute a criminal act in violation of 18 United States Code, Section 2422(b).

#### **INTRODUCTION**

- 1. I am a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation and have been since May 14, 2017. As part of my duties, I investigate violations of federal law, including the online exploitation of children, particularly in relation of violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1591, 2251, 2252A, and 2422 which criminalize, among other things, the production, advertisement, possession, receipt, transportation of child pornography, individuals attempting to persuade, induce, and entice minors to engage in sexual activity, and underage prostitution. I have gained experience in the conduct of such investigations through training in classes and work related to conducting these types of investigations. Specifically, I have received training in the Online Sexual Exploitation of Children. I have been involved in multiple search warrants, arrests, and have conducted online chatting investigations in an undercover capacity. As a federal agent, I am authorized to investigate and assist in the prosecution of violations of laws of the United States, and to execute search warrants and arrest warrants issued by federal courts.
- 2. The statements contained in this affidavit are based on my personal knowledge as well as on information provided to me by other law enforcement officers. This affidavit is being submitted for the limited purpose of securing an arrest warrant, and I have not included each and every fact known to me concerning this investigation. I have set forth only the facts that I believe are necessary to establish probable cause to believe that Jeffrey Alan Bosaw committed violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2422(b).

#### STATUTORY AND LEGAL AUTHORITY

- 3. This investigation concerns violations of Title 18, United States Code,
  Section 2422(b), relating to the enticement or the attempted enticement of minors to
  engage in prostitution or any sexual activity for which any person can be charged.
  Based upon my training and experience, as well as conversations with other
  experienced law enforcement officers and experienced federal prosecutors, I know the
  following:
  - a. 18 U.S.C. 2422(b) prohibits using any facility or means of interstate commerce to knowingly persuade, induce, entice or coerce any individual who has not attained the age of 18 years, to engage in prostitution or any sexual activity for which any person can be charged, or attempt to do so.
  - b. The internet is a facility of interstate commerce.

#### **Definition of Terms**

- 4. The following terms used in this affidavit have the indicated meaning in this affidavit:
  - a. The term "minor" is defined at 18 U.S.C § 2256(1) as any person under the age of eighteen years.
  - b. The term "sexually explicit conduct" is defined at 18 U.S.C. § 2256(2)(A) as actual or simulated (i) sexual intercourse, including genital-genital, oralgenital, anal-genital, or anal-oral, whether between person of the same or opposite sex; (ii) beastiality, (iii) masturbation; (iv) sadistic or masochistic

abuse; or (v) lascivious exhibition of the genitals or pubic area of any person.

c. The term "computer" is defined as set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 1030(e)(1).

# **Investigation**

5. On approximately November 14, 2020, an FBI Online Covert Employee (OCE) was conducting an undercover investigation on the online market place Locanto to locate individuals exploiting children online. Locanto allows users to post advertisements for goods, services, and personals. OCE posted an advertisement to the effect of "Taboo Dad looking for taboo, no limits, and family fun." Due to your Affiant's training and experience and from other law enforcement officers I have conferred with, using the terms "taboo," "no limits," and "family fun" together is indicative of someone who has an interest in children. The advertisement had OCE's telephone number to be contacted. A user later identified as Jeffrey Alan Bosaw (SUBJECT) directly text messaged the OCE's covert phone number and the following is an excerpt:

SUBJECT: Any luck finding taboo I've been looking for a while I was even willing to pay but it but it's almost impossible to fine

OCE: Who is this?

SUBJECT: Name is Jeff I'm bored Trying to get fucking laid I would love some taboo

OCE: How going get my number lol

OCE: I love taboo thou

SUBJECT: I think they got it off of Lecanto or maybe craigslist I'm not sure I've been trying to find somebody real since yesterday so it's hard to tell which one I got your number from

OCE: Gotcha well definitely real

OCE: I got my 11yo daughter to share

OCE: I'm in rock island btw

SUBJECT: Wow I've been waiting a long to time to fulfill that fantasy I would drive anywhere for that what do the two of you look like do you guys like to skate (Due to your Affiant's training and experience and other law enforcement officers I have conferred with, "Skate" is a slang term for ecstasy) I did that one other time before and another couple and it was crazy I was able to fuck for about seven hours and I actually even sucked his dick and I actually enjoyed it on that stuff but if you don't Skate that's OK I'm still interested it's been a fantasy of mine for a while do you have some pictures I'll attach some of mine

**SUBJECT:** (Sends photo of erect male penis)

SUBJECT: (Sends photo of subjects face with a female in picture)

SUBJECT: That's me with my ex-wife

**OCE:** Shes sexy

OCE: (Sends photo of confidential human source (CHS) utilizing a filter to appear younger and a Special Agent)

OCE: Here me and my daughter

OCE: (Sends photo of CHS utilizing a filter to appear younger)

OCE: I'm not into dudes but I love to watch others eith my gurl

SUBJECT: Damn you are one lucky dad she is cute can she take it for a very long time at that age I would have to say she's probably got a nice smooth pussy That I can eat does she like that

OCE: Yea it's super smooth rn

OCE: Non hair or period yet

SUBJECT: So what would you need for me to hook up with you guys

SUBJECT: The only thing that concerns me is that I don't know if law enforcement or not the only way that I can tell that you were not is if we can exchange some X pics of either one of you because I know that law-enforcement cannot send any type of pornographic pictures

OCE: (Sends photo of a penis. Note: not a real penis)

OCE: (Sends non-pornographic picture of confidential human source utilizing a filter to appear younger)

SUBJECT: Well thank you for that I think I am very comfortable with the situation what do we need to do to hook up what would you guys like from me

OCE: You just need to make that feel comfortable and no pain

OCE: Shss never done anal

SUBJECT: I don't have to do any anal that's not my cuppa tea most the time I love to eat pussy and I love the fuck it is she too young to have an orgasm

SUBJECT: Do you guys have a place or what I need to get a motel room

OCE: You could come to our place and she can still cum

OCE: All I ask is you bring her cookie dough ice cream and lemme watch
SUBJECT: You could definitely watch are you gonna be taking photos and do you

mean actually cookie dough ice cream real cookie dough ice cream

OCE: Yeah cookie dough ice cream. It's her fav and I always get her a treat after she plays

SUBJECT: Well I will definitely bring some cookie dough ice cream so is any time today good for you guys

OCE: Yea. Anytime is good just lemme know

OCE: We could meet at Saukie Golf Course. Its 2 mins from my house

SUBJECT: Well it says you guys are about two hours away I'm gonna need to know where you want me to meet you OK I see that now and then do I need to bring condoms

OCE: That's up to you. Are you ddf (Due to Affiant's training and experience, ddf stands for drug and disease free)

SUBJECT: Yeah Can't wait to see that young pussy I have to admit kinda scared, hope it's not sit up

SUBJECT: Yes it would be able no I'm not what can I do to prove to you that I'm not I definitely want this to happen

SUBJECT: Just about done with shower Will be heading out in about 20 min Would you happen to have a pic of her in t shirt and no panties

OCE: Sorry dude. I'm not sending nudes of her

OCE: (sends picture of minor child with abdomen exposed and showing the minor's underwear. Note: does not depict an actual child)

OCE: (sends picture of minor child with abdomen exposed and showing the minor's underwear with an adult hand on the underwear. Note: does not depict an actual child)

SUBECT: Ok I'm turned on I guess it's real getting dressed now

OCE: Definitely real here

SUBJECT: What is the name of the golf course that I'm supposed to meet you app so I can GPS it

OCE: Saukie golf course

SUBJECT: Is there a grocery store close to the girls so I can stop and get that ice cream I want it to be nice and fresh just as fresh as your daughter

OCE: Theres a dollar general just south of my house

SUBJECT: OK I will find it by the way my name is Jeff what is your guys name

SUBJECT: I have to say this is going to be the longest 2 hour dr I have never had

OCE: Lol I bet it is. Save that cum

SUBJECT: Oh believe me I am will I be able to come multiple times

OCE: Hell yea

SUBJECT: Whats the address to the dollar general

OCE: 4012 46th Avenue, rock island, IL

SUBJECT: OK thank you I'll put that in my GPS right now

OCE: Cool

SUBJECT: DO you just want to meet me at the Dollar General and I'll follow you back

OCE: Yea that works for me

SUBJECT: I'm at the Dollar General getting ice cream now

OCE: Cool! I'll start heading over. What am I looking for

SUBJECT: There is no cookie dough

OCE: Butterfinger is the next bet

OCE: You wanna just come to my house

SUBJECT: Yeah that's fine just give me the address I'm getting the Butterfingers now OCE: (sends address to the target location)

- 6. Open source databases were queried for telephone number 309-660-2009 showing Jeffrey Bosaw as a possible user of telephone number 309-660-2009. Open source databases were then queried for Jeffrey Bosaw and the following was discovered: date of birth was February 28, 1968 and home address of 1908 Croxton Avenue Bloomington, Illinois 61701. On November 14, 2020, a photograph was obtained and the photograph was consistent with the photo SUBJECT sent the OCE.
- 7. On November 14, 2020, at approximately 4:47PM, Special Agents and Task Force Officers observed a male matching Jeffrey Bosaw's description arrive at and enter the Dollar General on 46<sup>th</sup> Avenue in Rock Island. After SUBJECT exited the store, he entered a red SUV and proceeded to target location.
- 8. On November 14, 2020, at approximately 4:58PM, Special Agents and Task Force Officers observed SUBJECT drive to the address of the target location in a

red SUV. SUBJECT exited the SUV and proceeded to the front door of the target location. SUBJECT rang the doorbell and at that time Special Agents and Task Force Officers took him into custody. On SUBJECT's person was a mobile phone and Butterfinger flavored ice cream.

9. Once in custody, SUBJECT was brought to a room inside of the target location and was given his *Miranda* warnings. SUBJECT agreed to speak to Agents and the following is a summary of the interview: SUBJECT met a guy named Connor online who had an 11-year-old daughter. He had an advertisement on the application Locanto. He stated he came to the address to engage in sexual activity with the 11-year-old girl while the father watched.

# Conclusion

10. Based on the foregoing, I submit that there is probable cause to believe that on November 14, 2020, **Jeffrey Alan Bosaw**, using a facility and means of interstate commerce, his cellular telephone to access the Internet, knowingly attempted to persuade, induce, and entice an individual who had not attainted the age of 18 years, to engage in a sexual activity for which a person could be charged in violation of 18 U.S.C. 2422(b).

Kurt Bendoraitis, FBI Special Agent

Sworn to me over the teler none and signed by me pursuant to Fed.R.Crim.P. 4.1 and 4(d) on this 16<sup>th</sup> day of November, 2020.

s/Jonathan Hawley

JONATHAN HAWLEY, Magistrate Judge United States District Court